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“During my visit to the modest Buenos Aires home of the Oxter family, 
a lower-middle class family, I discovered, on a wall of the living room, 
Leonardo da Vinci’s Mona Lisa. It was my first visit to the Museum of 
the Contemporary.” (João Delgado)

The Museum of the Contemporary (MofC) was founded by the Sala-Manca 
Group in December 2009 at the first location of the Mamuta Art and Reseach 
Center in Ein Kerem, at the home of the late Polish-Jewish artist Daniela 
Passal.1 The house had previously been declared an abandoned Arab property,2 
but prior to that, as the artists discovered in the course of their research, it had 
been the home of the Palestinian scholar Issa Manoun. The first exhibition 

1 Daniela Pesal (b.1931, Poland – d.2005, Israel) immigrated to Israel in 1950 and 
studied art at the New Bezalel in Jerusalem. In 1989, she established the “Al-Dan 
Forum for Creation” at her home. After her death, her home was left to the Jerusalem 
Foundation to serve as a creative center for artists. In 2012-2009, the building, which 
is owned by the Jerusalem Foundation and the estate of the artist, served as the home 
of the Sala-Manca Group, which operated it as the “Mamuta Art and Media Center 
at Daniela Passal’s house.” 
2 Absentee’s Property Law 5710-1950 was enacted in Israel in 1950. “The primary 
purpose of this law”, as Nir Hason put it, “was to enable use of lands belonging to 
Arabs who left Israel voluntarily or forcedly during the War of Independence.” After 
the Six-Day War in 1967, which saw the extension of Jerusalem’s municipal boundaries, 
Palestinians with assets in Jerusalem suddenly found themselves considered “absentee” 
owners, even though they had not gone anywhere. Sometimes they were living only 
a few hundred meters away, but this was now considered outside the new Jerusalem 
city limits and officially in the West Bank. They found their property confiscated only 
because Israel drew the new municipal border between them and their property, 
making them no longer residents of Jerusalem—though they never left their homes. 
Read more: https://bit.ly/34vxhLE. Accessed February 2020.
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  “The Skin I Live In”, Sala-manca, gouche on existing walls, 2012.
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dealt with the Museum as an institution, the local historiography of the village 
of Ein Kerem, and the history of the museum space. The MofC also developed 
a digital storage room of exhibitions that cannot be viewed on the web but are 
offered as downloads.3 Each exhibition is available as a “package for printing, 
presentation, or re-exhibition,” depending on the physical and economic 
limitations of the institution acquiring the download.3 

The MofC not only related and responded to the structure in which it was 
housed, but it also corresponded with the Israel Museum that also dealt with 
or responded to the space in which it resided, albeit in a different way. In his 
essay “On Remembrances and Forgettings at Museums in the Holy City and 
of the Holy City in Museums” – an essay that was never published though 
it was partially cited in the catalog for the opening of the Museum of the 
Contemporary – Arturo Maure (one of João Delgado’s heteronyms) wrote:

“If, according to the plans of architect [Alfred] Mansfeld, The Israel 
Museum’s design was inspired by the Arab village and was construct-
ed on top of the ruins of the village of Sheikh Bader, and the Museum 
of the Contemporary is itself an Arab house located in the village [of 
Ein Kerem], which became a memorial to the Arab village, then The 
Israel Museum is a souvenir of the Museum of the Contemporary.”

Architect Zvi Efrat, a member of the group charged with renovating The 

3  The Storage room features complete exhibitions that are available for download, which 
underwent a process of digitization so as to preserve the full quality after they have been 
downloaded in their respective formats (video, sound, photography, text, etc.). After they 
have been downloaded, the exhibitions could be displayed in the venues available to the 
secondary curators (those who chose to download the exhibitions) and the conditions they 
have at their disposal. In this way, the same exhibition could be displayed simultaneously 
by agents of completely dissimilar nature and financial means. Since the exhibition will be 
displayed differently, it will also convey cultural and curatorial perceptions that reflect not 
only the perception of the exhibition’s curators, but also those of the secondary curators 
displaying it.
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Israel Museum in 2013, asserted that the perception of the Palestinian 
village of Malha, the source of Alfred Mansfeld’s inspiration in designing 
the museum, became an origin myth that provided The Israel Museum 
with a dimension of authenticity.4 The materialization of the Palestinian 
village’s image in the architectural design of The Israel Museum reflects the 
paradox in the process of structuring a local, indigenous national identity, 
which is one subject of interest to the Museum of the Contemporary and the 
Ethnographic Department operating in it.

The native Hebrew identity – a sort of hybrid consisting of Jewish-Bedouin 
and Jewish-Palestinian components – was, according to Yael Zerubavel, one 
of the most common identity options available to the Jewish settlers during 
the time of the yishuv, the pre-state Jewish presence. Arabs and Bedouins 
expressed the connection to nature and the land and were therefore seen 
as the embodiment of the Biblical Jew, the antithesis of the image of the 
weak, passive, wandering exilic Jew.5 Performing the native by wearing the 
kufiyah head-covering and the so-called Biblical sandals and riding horses, 
and by extension by constructing a museum of a national status with meta-
Palestinian architecture, were ways to shape and portray the native Hebrew 
identity. 

In its first location, the MofC dealt with the concepts of home, 
temporariness, the museum’s space, and their own ability or inability to 
express and inhabit a local hybrid identity. These topics continue to be 
central in different projects developed by the MofC (as seen in the Eternal 
Sukkah, the Paradise Inn Hotel, the Deller Sukkah).

4  See Zvi Efrat “Land Marks: The Emblematic Architecture of the Israel Museum and 
the Shrine of the Book (draft)”: http://efrat-kowalsky.co.il/files/the-architecture-of-
the-israel-museum.pdf. Accessed December 2014.
5  Yael Zerubavel, “Memory, the Rebirth of the Native, and the ‘Hebrew Bedouin’ Identity” 
Social Research 75/1 (2008): 315–352.



The Museum of the Contemporary and the Ethnographic Department 29

The Ethnographic Department of the Museum of the Contemporary 
opened on December 31, 2014, in the basement of the former leprosarium 
in the Talbiyeh quarter of Jerusalem, now known as Hansen House. The 
Ethnographic Department of the MofC deals with the seam between an 
art museum and an ethnographic museum and between visual art and 
popular art, and with the tensions among originals, recreations, copies, and 
reimaginings, the key aspects of the curatorial thinking that has informed 
the Museum of the Contemporary since its inception. 

From the Leprosarium Jesus Hilfe to Hansen’s House

The Leprosarium Jesus Hilfe (“Jesus’ Help”), founded as an isolated refuge 
for lepers, was established in 1867 by the German Protestant Moravian 
community in Jerusalem. For twenty years, it was housed in a building 
located on what is now Agron Street. In 1887, the leprosarium moved to 
a new building designed by Conrad Schick in the Talbiyeh neighborhood. 

“High walls enclose and hide the structure built in a secluded locale, far 
from the walls of the Old City. The public’s fascination with the place generated 
countless stories about the goings-on inside,” reads the informational page 
about the historical exhibition presented in the former hospital. Until 1948, 
most of the patients were Arab Muslims, while the nurses were Christian. 
Tawfiq Canaan, a Palestinian Christian, was the chief physician from 1919 
until 1948. In charge of all medical and research issues as well as external 
relations, Dr. Canaan would visit the leprosarium once a week.

Once the State of Israel was established, Dr. Canaan either left Jerusalem 
of his own volition or was expelled from the city. According to Salim Tamri, 
Dr. Canaan took the Arab patients out of the hospital and moved with them 
to Silwan, where they remained until he eventually set up a leper hospital 
north of Ramallah. According to the records of the Moravian nurses Johanna 
Larsen and Ida Ressel, they led fifteen patients to Silwan in 1953 and stayed 
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with them until the leprosarium north of Ramallah opened on June 12, 
1960. Either way, the fact that the leper population in the hospital switched 
from Muslim majority to Jewish majority was a political phenomenon, 
packing a metaphoric punch in terms of the politics of segregation.6

In 1950, the Jewish National Fund bought the leprosarium and transferred 
its administration to the Israeli Health Ministry. Its name, Leprosarium 
Jesus Hilfe, was changed to Hansen Government Hospital, in honour of the 
Norwegian physician who identified the leprosy-causing bacterium. Once 
antibiotic treatment became available and its success rate increased in the 
second half of the twentieth century, most of the patients were gradually 
released. The in-patient wing closed in 2000; the hospital continued to 
operate as an out-patient clinic until the hospital’s final closure in 2009, the 
year that the Israeli government decided to transfer the building’s ownership 
to the Jerusalem municipality for renovations in preparation for turning it 
into a cultural center. When the site opened at the end of 2013, it again 
changed its name to be known simply as Hansen House, as if the spirit of 
science replaced that of Jesus. Today, Hansen House is an art, design, and 
technology campus, revealing to visitors one of the most beautiful buildings 
in the city as well as its mysterious past. The campus houses the Master’s 
program of the Bezalel School for Art and Design, exhibition spaces, 
screening rooms, the offices of the online cultural journal Erev Rav, Mamuta  
Art and Research Center, and the Museum of the Contemporary.

6 “The separation of Arab and Jewish lepers in the Talbieh Leprosarium, during the 
war of 1948, marked those defining moments in the annals of Jerusalem and the Arab-
Israeli conflict. In its absurdity, the event encapsulated the depth of the process of ethnic 
exclusion and demonization after decades of conflict between Jews and Arabs, settlers 
and natives.” Salim Tamari, “Lepers, Lunatics, and Saints: The Nativist Ethnography 
of Tawfiq Canaan and His Circle, in Mountain Against the Sea: Essays on Palestinian 
Society and Culture (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2009), 93-112.






